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For Klaus Hinrichsen:


Historian of Art,


who made art history









In a pool


so small I could step over it,


I saw reflected all of the sky.


And I said to myself:


How best can I measure this bit of water?


By the earth that holds it?


Or by the heavens inside?


‘Short Hills’, Kurt Schwitters, Hutchinson Camp, 19401
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The Island of Extraordinary Captives is a work of historical narrative non-fiction. The events described in this book are not fabricated or embellished but drawn from diaries, letters, memoirs, oral histories, newspaper reports and other primary source material according to the best recollections of the various players and protagonists. Quotations and dialogue recalled by any speaker or witness years after the event in question should be taken as impressionistic rather than verbatim. Where there are discrepancies in dialogue between sources, the version closest to the date of the event described has been used. A full list of references and sources can be found at the end of the text.
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I


Barbed-Wire Matinee


THE ISLAND
7 SEPTEMBER 1940


As the day began to gather itself in, Peter Fleischmann watched the musician clamber onto the rostrum in the middle of the lawned square and settle himself at the grand piano. Before Peter fled Berlin, the eighteen-year-old orphan had buried pieces of silverware in a garden on the outskirts of the city; his collection of rare stamps had been taken from him by a Nazi inspector on the train that brisked him out of Germany. His only valuable was a silver dragonfly brooch, once owned by the mother he never knew. Peter was destitute. He could not normally have afforded a ticket to a performance by a renowned pianist, a favourite of kings and presidents.


Clear warm air, immense blue skies: the day had been one of the fairest of the century, a shimmering Saturday that evoked the languishing summers of childhood.1 So fine, in fact, that this was the day Germany chose to send its planes to bomb London for the first time, a blitz that would continue for the next eight months. Still, here on the misted Isle of Man, hundreds of miles from England’s capital city, the audience would have turned out whatever the weather. There was little else to do here, in the middle of the Irish Sea.


Behind the pianist Peter saw a backdrop of neat Edwardian boarding houses. The buildings appeared unremarkable: hotels for middle-class holidaymakers who wanted the frisson of overseas tourism without the effort and expense. Closer inspection revealed unlikely details. Each window was covered in dark film.2 The polymer material, used as a makeshift solution after a German U-boat had sunk the ship carrying blackout supplies to the island,3 peeled away when sliced with a razor blade. A fashion for silhouette carvings had spread through the camp: zoo animals, unicorns, characters from Greek myth adorned the ground floor windows. At night, and viewed from street side, the pictures glowed with the light of the air-raid-safe, brothel-red light bulbs inside, a novel backdrop for the celebrated pianist.


In front of the piano, on a crescent of wooden chairs, sat a line of British army officers, laughing and smoking next to their wives. Beyond them, beneath the darting midges, sat hundreds of men, mostly refugees, arranged in untidy rows on the grass. From the open windows of the surrounding houses, their bedrooms full of dusk, other men perched and leaned, the glow of their cigarette ends fireflies in the dying light.4 Peter could turn to see Douglas harbour behind him, where boats pottered and chugged, trailing their wakes on the tinselled sea. Somewhere above the frequency of conversation, it was possible to hear the distant waves frothing on the shingle, like a broom sweeping glass from a shattered shop window.


A palisade of barbed wire separated and barred the men from the harbour, a perimeter that marked the boundary of what was officially known as ‘P camp’, or, to the men, simply, ‘Hutchinson’. Outside the wire fence, a group of locals had gathered.5 They peered in, hoping to glimpse and understand what was happening, the only obvious clue that tonight’s was a captive audience.


Eight weeks earlier, on Saturday 13 July 1940,6 Captain Hubert Daniel, a kindly, keen-drinking forty-eight-year-old army officer,7 had declared the camp open. Hutchinson was the seventh of ten internment camps to open on the Isle of Man, an island positioned sufficiently far from the neighbouring coasts to be ideally suited for imprisonment.8 The island’s boat-owning residents had been instructed to stow the oars and remove the spark plugs from their vessels’ engines at night.9 Even if an escapee were to board a suitable craft, the journey to the mainland was perilous. If you were here, you were here for good.


Hutchinson was currently home to around twelve hundred prisoners, predominantly refugees from Nazi Germany who had been living peacefully in Britain at the time of their arrest. In recent months rumours abounded that a Fifth Column – a neologism to Britain, now universally understood to refer to traitors living within their country of asylum – had assisted the Nazi occupation of the Netherlands. Newspapers had stoked national paranoia with claims that a similar network of spies lurked in Britain.


Even before the outbreak of war, Scotland Yard, working in conjunction with MI5, the British domestic intelligence service, had been deluged with tip-offs about suspicious refugees and foreigners. The police detained one man when investigators found an entry in his diary that read: ‘Exchange British Queen for Italian Queen.’ The detective assumed he had exposed a fascist plot against the crown. In fact, the man was a beekeeper, planning to overthrow only the tiny monarch that ruled his hive.10


The police were first alerted to one of Hutchinson camp’s internees, a young art historian Dr Klaus Hinrichsen,11 and his fiancée, Greta, when a neighbour reported hearing the young couple’s lovemaking. The distrustful neighbour suspected the rhythmic knocking of the bed might contain a coded message. It was difficult, Klaus pointed out, to prove that one did not understand Morse code.12


The recent German occupation of France meant an invasion attempt seemed not only plausible but imminent. Days after he became prime minister, Winston Churchill authorised the arrest of thousands of so-called ‘enemy aliens’. In the chaotic round-ups that followed, thousands of Jews who had fled Nazi Germany – including some teenagers like Peter who came via the fêted Kindertransport trains – were imprisoned by the same people in whom they had staked their trust, a nightmarish betrayal. The refugees who comprised the majority of tonight’s audience had experienced a collective trauma: to be imprisoned by one’s liberator is to endure an injustice of chronology.


Status and class, those twin, usually indefatigable armaments of privilege, had provided no protection. Oxbridge dons, surgeons, dentists, lawyers and scores of celebrated artists were taken. The police arrested Emil Goldmann,13 a sixty-seven-year-old professor from the University of Vienna, in the grounds of Eton College, Britain’s most elite school.14 At Cambridge University dozens of staff and students were detained in the Guild Hall, including Friedrich Hohenzollern, also known as Prince Frederick of Prussia, a grandson of Queen Victoria.15 That year’s law finals were almost cancelled because one of the interned professors had the exam papers locked in his desk, and had no time to pass someone the key. 


The police came for Peter in the early hours of the morning, without prior warning, a manner of detention that had reminded him of the Gestapo’s moonlit round-ups and the muggy world of fear and distrust from which he had just fled.16


In the weeks that followed its opening, Hutchinson had bristled with a creative energy, its inhabitants organising events, much like this evening’s, that drew upon the unlikely inmates’ considerable talents. Still, no man could quite escape the demoralising fact that the terms ‘internee’ and ‘internment camp’ – even ‘concentration camp’, as Hutchinson and the other island camps were sometimes referred to at the time17 – were euphemistic: Peter and every other man here were, in every way that mattered, captives, arrested without charge or trial, confined without sentence to a prison camp and forbidden to leave. Regardless of their age or station, geopolitical history, blunt and undiscerning, had visited each man’s life.


Still, Peter was thrilled to be among this crowd. As the men had been imprisoned because of where they were from, and not for who they were or what they had done, Hutchinson contained a dazzling cross-section of society. It was happenstance, however, that brought so many brilliant achievers to this camp. Together they made up one of history’s unlikeliest and most extraordinary prison populations. While there were no tuxedos or ballgowns, no champagne flutes or chandeliers for tonight’s show, Peter sat among a constellation of brilliant individuals, luminaries from the worlds of art, fashion, media and academia, an exceptional audience, even discounting the circumstances.


From an early age Peter had aspired to be numbered among the great artists. Events both international and domestic had at first conspired against his ambition, his dream to become an artist exploded by exile. Then, the currents of history had carried him into the orbit of his heroes; he shared the camp with a raft of eminent artists, including Kurt Schwitters, the fifty-three-year-old pioneering Dadaist in front of whose ‘degenerate’ work the failed painter, Adolf Hitler, had sarcastically posed. The artists, in turn, took this skinny, bespectacled outsider into their care.


Since he had arrived at Hutchinson, tonight’s performer, Marjan Rawicz, had been hounded by depression.18 Internment had interrupted his packed summer schedule. On 3 May 1940 he and his musical partner, Walter Landauer,19 played a benefit concert at the London Palladium to raise money for variety artists. Ironically, considering the duo was soon to be arrested on suspicion of being Nazi spies, their performance was broadcast on a radio channel dedicated to the British Armed Forces. Three weeks later, on 23 May, at half past three in the afternoon, the pair gave a live demonstration of a Welmar grand piano on the second floor of the consummate British luxury department store, Harrods.20 The police arrested the musicians a few weeks later, in Blackpool, where they had just begun a run of sell-out performances.


While his world collapsed, habit held. Rawicz was a performer, and performers must perform. His only stipulation had been that tonight’s show would be a solo concert, that the programme would be entirely his choice, and that he could use a grand piano – actually, a Steinway. Captain Daniel had pointed out to the musician that the inventory of houses listed eleven pianos already inside the camp.


‘Can’t you use one of them?’ the commandant asked, adding that it might prove difficult to secure official sign-off for a hired grand, considering, well, everything.21


Reluctantly, Rawicz agreed. A small crowd trailed the musician as he toured the houses, testing each instrument for its suitability. Rawicz, not one to disregard an audience, had amused his trail of followers with sarcastic quips and condemnations.


‘Even a deaf man would feel pain from this one,’ Rawicz joked, as he tested one neglected example. When one hanger-on expressed surprise at the shortness of his fingers, Rawicz shot back: ‘My friend, I am a pianist, not a gynaecologist.’22


Under the impact of Rawicz’s forceful playing, one piano collapsed.23 Onlookers soon dismantled the instrument and removed its keys, planks and tangles of wire. A wood-carver, Ernst Müller-Blensdorf, took the mahogany sides. The animal trapper, Johann ‘Brick’ Neunzer,24 lion tamer at Burnt Stubb Zoo – later known as Chessington Zoo – pocketed the ivories, hoping to carve them into dentures, while the engineers among the internees collected the wire to make electric fires.


Rawicz had made his point. Captain Daniel relented. The camp’s maintenance department wheeled a hired Steinway onto a sturdy rostrum, built for the occasion. A date was set, and the commandant, eager to demonstrate the superiority of his camp, issued invitations to his rival officers on the island.25


There was no score to flutter away on the wind when the audience’s applause stilled to intermittent coughs and rustles as Rawicz began to play. The pianist had prepared a wide-ranging programme from waltzes to rhapsodies, from the Radetzky March to Bach, from showtunes like ‘Smoke Gets in Your Eyes’ to a composition of his own, ‘Spinning Wheel’,26 each one played from memory. The crowd greeted each piece with enthusiastic applause; transported to the pre-war concert halls of Berlin, Vienna and Prague – a distraction from the precariousness of the situation, the risk of deportation or of imminent Nazi invasion. The evening’s performance was, as one audience member put it, ‘unforgettable’.27


For the finale, Rawicz had selected two pieces designed to draw a veil of ironic dissonance across the scene. Ignoring classics from the European composers, he opted instead for the sixteenth-century folk tune ‘Greensleeves’ – a quintessentially English melody – before he segued into a rendition of the British national anthem. Peter and the other internees stood to their feet and sang.


May he defend our laws,


And ever give us cause,


To sing with heart and voice,


God save the King.


The square resounded with the chorus, sung in various degrees of accented English, a tribute to the country that had offered each man refuge, only to turn against him. Rawicz’s pointed choices highlighted the tortuous absurdity of the situation. Here were hundreds of refugees from Nazi oppression, pledging loyalty to the country and allegiance to the king, under whose authority they had been imprisoned, without charge or trial, on suspicion of being Nazi spies. Still, swept up in the moment, few checked to see if any among them had chosen to remain silent.










PART ONE


Quocunque Jeceris Stabit


‘Whithersoever you throw him, he will stand.’


The Isle of Man motto










II


Five Shots


PARIS
TWO YEARS EARLIER


Shortly after the sun rose, the shadows shrunk, and the day began to unspool, Madame Carpe cranked open the iron shutters of her shop in the fifth arrondissement of Paris.


‘I want to buy a gun,’ she heard a voice call out behind her.


The woman turned to see a rakish boy with doleful eyes wearing a wide-lapelled suit, tie and baggy overcoat. She called to her husband, Léopold, who appeared in the doorway. It was 8:35 on the morning of 7 November 1938. À la Fine Lame – ‘At the Cutting Edge’ – was not yet open, but, eager to commence the day’s business, the shopkeeper beckoned his first customer of the day inside.


‘Why do you need a gun?’ he asked the boy, who was eyeing the heavy-laden displays lining the walls. The boy opened his wallet to display a sheaf of bills and explained that, as he was often called upon by his father to deliver large sums of money, he needed something for protection.


The explanation was both sufficient and superfluous. According to French law, a gunshop owner could only refuse a sale to a customer if he or she judged the person to be of unsound mind. The boy was fractious and exhausted. He had barely slept the previous night, having been three times shaken awake by nightmares, his heart pounding so fast that he had to place a hand on his chest to calm himself. But if his customer showed any signs of exhaustion, Carpe was not moved to ask further questions. The boy seemed intense, but not disturbed.


The shopkeeper clunked a selection of weapons onto the counter. His customer looked blankly from one to the next. Monsieur Carpe recognised the hesitancy of a novice, but, for now, resisted the urge to instruct him. Finally, the boy asked if Carpe had a .45 pistol in stock, the calibre of pistol he knew from American films.1


Alas, the shopkeeper explained, this would be a poor choice for the task: too heavy, too bulky. Better to choose a 6.35-millimetre revolver, a gun small enough to be carried as a concealed weapon, light enough to be quickly drawn, yet suitably menacing to frighten a thief.


Carpe demonstrated how to load, fire and unload the weapon. The boy watched the smooth, well-practised movements of the salesman’s hands. Finally, the shopkeeper placed a box of twenty-five cartridges on the counter and explained that, before he could sell the weapon, he needed to see some proof of identity. The young man slid his passport across the counter. Carpe saw a foreign name on the document: Herschel Grynszpan.


It was while wandering the streets the previous night that Herschel first noticed À la Fine Lame. The seventeen-year-old was aimless and stewing in the residual agitation that follows a major argument. Earlier, he had stormed from the home where he lived with his uncle and aunt. Ostensibly the row was about money, but it had been heightened by resentments and frustrations both unspoken and unnamed, and by circumstances outside of the control of any participant.


Herschel was an undocumented immigrant. Two years earlier he had come to France, leaving his immediate family in his hometown of Hanover, and had moved in with his relatives. Herschel’s father successfully smuggled 3,000 francs out of Germany to fund his son’s care. Now the boy wanted this money to be returned to his family, who he believed were in mortal danger.


His parents owned a small tailor’s shop in Hanover. Since Adolf Hitler came to power five years earlier, they had endured tremendous economic hardship. The hope that anti-Semitism was limited to a minority of crackpot, die-hard party supporters was dispelled when a local police officer handed them extradition papers: they, along with some twelve thousand other Polish Jews living in Germany, were to be forcibly expelled from the country they called home. On the bleak journey to the station, where they were to embark on the train that would carry them to the Polish border, the streets were black with people shouting: ‘Juden raus! – Jews out!’2


The deportation was chaotic and cruel. Having disembarked at Zbąszyń, on the Polish border, Herschel’s family was hounded across the German frontier, then turned back by the Polish guards. The exiled men and women trudged back to German territory, just to be repelled there, too. It was only when the Nazis set dogs on the crowd that the Polish border guards relented, allowing the haggard group into no man’s land, where they spent the night sleeping in barns and pigsties. Earlier that week Herschel received a postcard from his older sister, Esther, who explained the situation, ending with a declaration of the family’s newfound destitution: ‘We don’t have a pfennig.’


Uncle Abraham – who, like his brother, worked as a tailor – knew that events were unfolding quickly. It would be irresponsible to send money into a scene of chaos, Abraham reasoned to his nephew. Wiser to await further developments. Herschel, who was prone to surges of fury that crested with threats of suicide, took his uncle’s procrastination as evidence that nobody else cared about his parents’ predicament. The accusation wounded Abraham.


‘I’ve already done just about everything I can for you,’ he told his nephew. ‘If you’re not satisfied, you are free to go.’3


Herschel tugged his coat free from his aunt’s grip, who sobbed as she tried to hold him back from the door.


‘I am leaving,’ said Herschel. ‘Goodbye.’


Abraham pressed 200 francs into the boy’s hand before he left.


Herschel spent the remainder of the day in a sulk, resisting efforts by his friend Naftali – Nathan, as he was better known – Kaufmann to cheer him. Nathan had witnessed the fight and, as he followed his friend out of the front door, assured Herschel’s aunt and uncle that he would return their nephew to them unharmed.


After whiling away the rest of the afternoon with friends, in the early evening the two young men discussed the day’s events by the light leaking from the windows of the city hall. Nathan gently urged his friend to return to the apartment. Herschel’s rage reignited.


‘I’d rather die like a dog than go back on my decision,’ he said.


Herschel explained his plan for the night: to eat dinner at his favourite café,4 then check in to a cheap hotel. The pair parted. Herschel walked down the rue du Faubourg Saint-Denis and there spied the gun shop window.


The weapon and bullets came to 245 francs. Herschel paid with the two hundred-franc notes from his uncle and made up the difference with change from his own pocket. Without removing the price tag, which hung from a piece of red string tied to the trigger guard, the shopkeeper wrapped the weapon and the cartridges in brown paper and tied up the package.


Herschel was required by law to register his purchase with the authorities. As he left the shop, he made towards the nearest police station. The boy continued walking until he was sure that he was out of sight. Then he turned off the main road and circled back towards the Tout Va Bien café where, the previous evening, he had told his friend that he planned to eat.


At 08:55 Herschel faced the mirror in the café’s bathroom. He untied the package and slid the gun from its bag, feeling in his hand the cold weight of the morning’s choices, and those yet to come. He loaded five rounds into the chamber and placed the weapon in the left interior pocket of his suit jacket. Ten minutes later, he descended the steps into the Strasbourg-Saint-Denis Metro station and took the Line 8 train towards the Madeline church.


If during the journey Herschel harboured any residual doubt or hesitation about his plan – a plan that would, in history’s tumbling, circuitous way, change the lives of millions – his mind was fixed by the time he emerged into the Paris sunlight. Just after half past nine, Herschel arrived at his destination, close to the banks of the Seine River: the German embassy, at 78 rue de Lille.


Anxious and unprepared, Herschel approached one of the on-duty police officers outside the building and asked which doorway he should use.


‘What is the purpose of your visit?’ asked the gendarme, François Autret.5


Concentrating to keep his voice from betraying his nerves, Herschel informed the officer that he needed a German visa.6


‘You need the consulate, not the embassy,’ Autret explained. The policeman waved Herschel towards the public doorway to the embassy, before turning his back on the teenager and the first bothersome inquiry of the day.


Two hours earlier, in Herschel’s rented room at the Hotel de Suez, he had written a postcard in reply to his sister after a night spent wrestling with nightmarish visions of the mistreatment of his parents.


‘God must forgive me,’ read his message, written in a mixture of Hebrew and German. ‘My heart bleeds when I think of our tragedy and that of the 12,000 Jews. I have to protest in a way that the whole world hears, and this I intend to do. I beg your forgiveness.’


Herschel had meant to post the message on his way to the gun shop. Preoccupied with his mission, he had neglected to do so. What was intended as a private plea for forgiveness was now a carried confession of premeditation. Herschel had come to the embassy intending to shoot and kill a senior staff member to protest the Nazi treatment of his parents and, more generally, the Jewish people. As Herschel opened the door, a distinguished sixty-year-old man strode out. Unbeknown to Herschel, the man was Count Johnannes von Welczeck, German ambassador to France, off to take his daily walk around the neighbourhood. No target was better suited to attract the attention of the world’s press than Welczeck, the highest-ranking German diplomat in Paris that day. The man and the assassin passed one another in silence. In doing so, each crossed an invisible threshold between countries and fates.


Inside the building Herschel met Madame Mathis, wife of the Frenchman who served as concierge at the embassy. Having just repaired the furnace in the basement, her husband was away from the front desk, changing his clothes.


‘I need to see a gentleman from the embassy,’ Herschel said, in French.7 ‘I wish to submit some important papers to him.’


The lie was well-chosen. The German embassy was, as one journalist wrote at the time, a hotbed of espionage-themed intrigue: ‘One only had to be announced as an intelligence agent to be received without difficulty.’8 Herschel’s claim that he held secret documents of national importance was the surest way to gain an audience with a senior member of embassy staff. Such matters were significantly above Madame Mathis’s pay grade. She directed Herschel to the staircase where, on the first floor, she said the boy would find the on-duty receptionist.


Emboldened by his progress, upstairs Herschel told the receptionist, Wilhelm Nagorka, that he was in possession of ‘a confidential and very important document’.9 Nagorka offered to pass the document along. No, insisted Herschel: the matter was too important; he must hand the document to ‘someone with knowledge of secrets’ in person. Nagorka relented. It was early and the embassy was quiet. Besides, if this teenager actually had important information to share, Nagorka didn’t want to be the one to hinder its progress. He invited Herschel to take a seat in the waiting room.


A few minutes later, Nagorka returned and escorted the boy to the office of a twenty-nine-year-old diplomat with a reputation among his colleagues for being willing to deal with callers of this sort.


At 9:45am Herschel stepped into the office of the diplomat Ernst Eduard Adolf Max vom Rath. Rath sat behind his desk gazing out of the window, his back to the door. He swivelled his chair a quarter-turn to the left to face Herschel.


‘So,’ said Rath, thin-lipped but statuesquely handsome. ‘Let me see the document.’


Herschel pulled the revolver from the inside left pocket of his suit jacket and aimed the barrel at Rath. The price tag dangled by its red string.


‘You’re a sale boche,’fn1 he said. ‘And in the name of 12,000 persecuted Jews, here is your document.’10


Herschel fired five shots. Despite the proximity of the two men, three missed their target. One lodged in the coat closet. Another struck the wall. Both left holes about three feet from the ground. Two shots hit their target, entering Rath’s body from the left side. One passed through his thoracic cavity and lodged in his right shoulder. The other ruptured Rath’s spleen, perforated his stomach and, most troublingly for the cadre of doctors and surgeons who would soon attend to the victim, damaged his pancreas.


‘Deckiges Judenvolk’ – ‘dirty Jew’ – screamed Rath, who, despite his injuries, managed to punch his attacker in the jaw. The diplomat then staggered forward and heaved open his wooden office door. ‘Help!’ he shouted into the corridor.


Nagorka ran towards the commotion from his desk, about thirty feet away.


‘I am wounded,’ said Rath, needlessly.


Herschel took a seat in the office. The gun, which the teenager had indignantly hurled at Rath after being punched in the face, lay on the floor.11 Herschel would later claim that his actions that morning had been conducted in a trance state. The unsent postcard in his wallet addressed to his sister suggested otherwise.


In the early hours of 8 November, Hitler’s personal physician, Dr Karl Brandt,12 and the director of the Surgical Clinic of the University of Munich, Dr Georg Magnus, arrived in Paris via train. The men had been dispatched for reasons both practical and symbolic. Most obviously they were there to provide expert care to Rath, who was, by now, recovering from surgery and a blood transfusion. They were also to provide the German government with a reliable source of updates as to Rath’s condition. Their swift dispatch was also intended to demonstrate to a watching world the care which the Nazi regime took of its officials and to underscore, even exaggerate, the significance of the incident.


At around 10:30am, Brandt and Magnus examined the condition of the young diplomat. As they left the hospital, they described the surgical treatment Rath had received as ‘excellent’ but nevertheless declared the patient’s condition as ‘extremely serious’.


In Germany, Adolf Hitler remained uncharacteristically silent. He made no speech or statement about the shots fired in Paris. While the Propaganda Ministry advised the Nazi-sanctioned press to give the assassination attempt ‘the greatest attention’, the official line was merely portentous, not instructive: the act, the ministry pointed out, ‘was certain to have the most serious consequences for Jews in Germany’.


The next day, Rath’s condition worsened. Shortly after three o’clock in the afternoon of 9 November 1938, he fell into a coma. Ninety minutes later, the diplomat was dead.


That evening Hitler sat in a smoke-filled hall in Munich, surrounded by an aromatic gaggle of his staunchest and longest-serving supporters, the Sturmabteilung – Storm Troopers, also known as the Brownshirts. The men jostled and cheered in a celebration of what had come to be regarded as the most significant date in the party’s history, the anniversary of the so-called Beer Hall Putsch of 1923.


On that day fifteen years earlier, Hitler and around six hundred of his paramilitary fighters had attempted to seize control of the government. The coup failed. Hitler’s army of thugs and embittered veterans was easily repelled by a hundred or so armed police officers, although there were a few casualties. Sixteen Nazis and three police officers were killed in the clash. Hitler was duly arrested, tried, convicted and sent to prison, a term during which he composed his infamous screed, Mein Kampf.


Hitler’s propagandists soon twisted the defeat into a story of honour and triumph. The anniversary acquired the patina of myth for the Nazi Party, which had declared 9 November a national holiday known as Tag der Bewegung – Day of the Movement. Each year there was a re-enactment of the march, when wreaths were laid in memory of the sixteen fallen. Afterwards Hitler would spend the evening with five hundred or so of the highest-ranking members of the party at the traditional ‘Old Fighters’ dinner held at the Altes Rathaus, the Old Town Hall. This alcohol-fuelled evening would culminate at midnight with a boisterous ceremony at which new recruits to the SS, the party’s military branch, would swear ‘obedience unto death’.


At around nine o’clock that evening,13 a messenger entered the hall, where the festivities were in mid-swing, and whispered into Hitler’s ear. The Führer turned to Josef Goebbels, his Minister of Propaganda, and the two men were seen to engage in intense, hushed conversation.14 One reveller reported hearing the phrase: ‘The Brownshirts should be allowed to have their fling.’15


Hitler left the assembly immediately. Normally, he would address his troops with a rousing speech, but tonight Goebbels spoke in his place.


‘Ernst vom Rath was a good German, a loyal servant of the Reich, working for the good of our people in our embassy in Paris,’ he began, as the crowd simmered to a hush. ‘Shall I tell you what happened to him? He was shot down! In the course of his duty, he went, unarmed and unsuspecting, to speak to a visitor at the embassy, and had two bullets pumped into him. He is now dead.’16


With the facts declared, Goebbels now turned to the subject of blame and reprisal.


‘Do I need to tell you the race of the dirty swine who perpetrated this foul deed?’ he asked, echoing the epithet used by Rath during the attack. ‘A Jew!’


The hall erupted in boozy jeers.


‘Tonight, he lies in jail in Paris, claiming that he acted on his own, that he had no instigators of this awful deed behind him. But we know better, don’t we? Comrades, we cannot allow this attack by international Jewry to go unchallenged.’


And so, with the precisely calibrated rhetoric for which he would become known, Goebbels extrapolated blame for the attack from the individual to the community. The inference was clear: shared culpability meant shared consequence. Retribution could be indiscriminate. If reprisals were to spontaneously erupt, Goebbels clarified, ‘they were not to be hampered’.17


There would be, finally, a climax to the crescendo of force that had been building against the Jews since the Nazi Party came to power in 1933. In Paris, Herschel Grynszpan awaited trial for murder. The sentence would be delivered long before any jury made its final judgment. This much was clear as, in the room, the heckling grew to a battle roar.


Hitler’s exit was significant and followed a pattern of behaviour that had become well established in recent years: in private the party’s leader would issue or sign off orders for violence against Jewish communities; in public, he would remain stoically silent or, as in tonight’s case, conspicuously absent, thereby ensuring that his name could not be linked to any brutality. In his diary, Goebbels laid out the truth of the situation. ‘The Führer decides: let the demonstrations continue. Withdraw the police. The Jews are to experience the rage of the people.’18


The pretext for a state-sponsored orgy of violence had been supplied by a teenager, the starter’s gun for which a tensed regime had been long awaiting. So began a night of violence that would visit shops and homes, synagogues and cemeteries, artists and orphans, a chapter that would end, not only with the imprisonment of innocents across Germany, but also with the imprisonment of innocents across Britain.










III


Fire and Crystal


To the other children of Berlin’s Auerbach orphanage, it appeared that Peter Fleischmann never won a fight. Not that he started any, either. In the ruthless universe of the playground, the short boy with the wavy hair and oval glasses seemed the archetypal target. Staff members would wade through the crescent of onlookers to heave the boys apart, and Peter would invariably limp off in defeat. The truth, however, was more complicated. In the midst of the kerfuffle, the clenched teeth and headlocks, the dusty tussling, Peter would always be sure to land at least one sharp blow. He may lose the fight, but so long as he caused some furtive pain, the other boy would be sure, thereafter, to keep away.1


Every orphan is a survivor. One summer, a few weeks, months or possibly years after he was born – nobody was ever entirely straight with him – Peter’s parents, together with his aunt and uncle, were out driving near the Wannsee lake in Berlin when the car developed a steering fault. The driver lost control and crashed into the water. By the time passers-by discovered the vehicle, all the passengers had drowned. There were no eyewitnesses.


Like Herschel Grynzspan, who was nine months his senior, Peter blamed the Nazis for his misfortune. His father, Moritz, had worked as a reporter for Die Frei Meinung! – The Free Opinion! – a publication founded in January 1919 by Peter’s uncle, Hugo. From their offices in Breslau the Fleischmann brothers documented city life in all its grim fullness. Hugo, the editor who wrote under the pseudonym Hans Hantada-Fleischmann,2 believed with all the zeal of a fundamentalist preacher in a journalist’s moral obligation to hold power to account. He also needed to sell newspapers, and in 1920s Breslau, nothing sold like gossip. Die Freie Meinung!’s coverage provided a salacious record of dingy, local sins. (A regular column ran with the title ‘Aus den düstersten Winkeln Breslaus’ – ‘From the murkiest corners of Breslau’.) The Fleischmanns soon made enemies in positions of power. In one 1922 article published in a rival newspaper, the city councillor Max Gruschwitz maligned Hugo as a ‘common slanderer’ and, with an anti-Semitic flourish, a ‘well-poisoner’.3


The police reported the deaths of the Fleischmanns as the result of a freak car accident. Regular readers of Die Frei Meinung! suspected otherwise. While murder remained unproven, the foundational story offered to Peter as an explanation for the chasmic void in his life was that his family had been assassinated, probably by Nazi sympathisers. Whatever the precise circumstances of his parents’ disappearance, the fact remained: by the time he was three years old, Peter Fleischmann was an orphan.


Peter’s grandfather, a retired banker named Dr Alfred Deutsch, provided stability and income. Peter moved into his palatial apartment, which boasted two bathrooms and eleven bedrooms – far too many for Alfred and his live-in housekeeper, Elizabeth Altenhain – on the well-to-do Aschaffenburger Strasse.4 Alfred cared for Peter as if he were the boy’s father, and Elizabeth as if she were his mother – a curious, if welcome couple. Nonetheless, the boy needed an education and so, when Peter was five, Alfred sent him to the Auerbach orphanage, where he stayed during the week, returning home to his unconventional family on Sundays.


Fate was not quite finished heaping trouble upon the surviving Fleischmann. In October 1929 the US stock market crash knocked the financial supports from beneath the post-war Weimar economy. Lenders refused to issue new loans and called in existing ones. Peter’s grandfather, like millions of other Germans, lost his money. Alfred kept the apartment, but on the weekends, he and Peter were forced to walk the streets of Berlin, eating in soup kitchens, and collecting and drying out horse manure to use in place of fire logs.5


Alfred’s lament was but one voice in a chorus of misery. In the twelve months between September 1929 and September 1930, unemployment in Germany more than doubled to three million. Peter and his grandfather were privileged: they had a house and its associated securities, but Alfred did not survive his precipitous decline into hardship. He died within the year. The housekeeper moved out to begin a new life in a farmhouse in Dahlewitz, just south of Berlin. At the age of twelve, Peter had no remaining family, or at least none that he was aware of. The illusion that is human stability had shattered; the boy became a full-time resident at the Auerbach orphanage, where he learned to scuffle.6


Echoes of Peter’s old life of relative wealth and privilege returned during the school holidays. Before Alfred lost his money, he would take his grandson to the city’s most famous restaurant, Kempinski’s at 27 Kurfürstendamm, one of a high-class and profitable chain of shops and restaurants that had spread across the city since the late nineteenth century. The vast restaurant was magnificently outfitted: wine-red carpets, mahogany furniture, glinting cutlery, white napery. The ground floor housed a delicatessen store where saleswomen in black uniforms with white-frilled aprons and headbands served crystallised pineapple from silver trays using silver tongs.


During visits Peter would wander off and explore the building, areas that were typically closed off to members of the public. During one of these sojourns, Peter met the owner of the wine-importing business that supplied the restaurant. To Peter the man seemed kindly and good-humoured, playing hide-and-seek among the pillars and racks. It would be some time before Peter found out that his unlikely playmate was Joachim von Ribbentrop, the future Nazi foreign minister.7


It was here at the restaurant that Peter first met Elisabeth Kohsen, heiress to the Kempinski empire, a vivacious socialite with two children of her own, just a little younger than Peter. Echen, as she was known to her friends, had remained, despite the exceptionally favourable circumstances of her birth, empathetic and compassionate. She donated money to support the work of the Auerbach orphanage.8 After Alfred’s death, Echen invited Peter to stay with her family during the holidays, paying for him to accompany the family skiing in Switzerland one winter. Once, when Peter fell ill, she paid for him to recuperate in the countryside, away from the other orphans.


Echen became like family to Peter. When he visited her vast and luxurious third-floor apartment in the fashionable Berlin district of Charlottenburg, she invited him to call her ‘aunt’, and ordered her two daughters to call him ‘cousin’.9 His visits assumed a dream-like quality. Before dinner he would watch Echen take live lobsters out of a low sink and drop them, with a haunting hiss, into a pot of boiling water, where their black carapaces turned a bright red.10 In the dining room a pink Venetian glass chandelier hung above an enormous light green and crimson carpet. Through the window, Peter and the sisters would sometimes watch parades of young Nazi Brownshirts march past or would drop coins down to a local organ-grinder and his performing monkey. For a few weeks, here and there, Peter experienced brief sojourns into the vanished life he had once enjoyed with his grandfather, before he had to return to the chores and routine of the orphanage.


Playground fights aside, Auerbach was a place of relative peace and plenty. The orphanage was not like the workhouses of Dickens, with their bowls of thin gruel and ruthless governesses. The campus was old and substantial. While the dormitories resembled hospital wards, with white metallic beds and identikit blankets, they were comfortably furnished. The playground was treelined and the grounds meticulously kept by a caretaker, Mr Gross.11 Peter lived with around eighty other Jewish children, both boys and girls, ranging from nursery to school-leaving age.


Not all of the residents were ‘full orphans’, as those who had lost both parents were bluntly known. Single parents also sent their children to Auerbach as weekly boarders. All families paid what they could afford.12 A gymnasium equipped with parallel bars, vaulting horses and rings connected the boys’ and girls’ dormitories and, after finishing their homework each day, the students would meet in the courtyard to brush hands and steal kisses. Toys were plentiful: radio and chess sets, table tennis tables, playing cards, little wooden kitchens, and an outdoor sandpit as wide and deep as a swimming pool, where the younger children could build castles and protective moats.13


There were daily chores – shoe-shining, step-scrubbing, banister-polishing – and a few seasonal hardships: in winter the taps in the coach house at the bottom of the garden would occasionally freeze over, and the children would have to chip the ice from the basins before they could wash.14 Life was, however, comfortable for the students, who benefitted from the donations of wealthy benefactors such as the banker and philanthropist Eugen Landau, a bust of whom watched over the dining room. On Saturday mornings Peter and the others received a slice of cake in celebration of Shabbat, alongside their spoonful of cod liver oil. Every Hanukkah each boy was given a new suit.15


Jonas Plaut, a jovial, broad-chested man in his mid-forties, and his wife, Selma, ten years his junior, had run the orphanage since 1922. The couple hired progressive interns as guardians for the children, young people who were primarily concerned with furthering their charges’ growth. One of the governesses would frequently give the students money out of her own pocket to go to movies or visit the bakery next door.16 While Selma Plaut was prone to a favouritism that rankled and excluded those who did not fall under the beam of her attention,17 the couple succeeded in fostering an experience that most looked back on with fondness.


In accordance with the wishes of the orphanage’s founder, Baruch Auerbach, the Plauts wanted their institution to meet not only the physical and spiritual needs of its orphans, but also their intellectual and cultural longings.18 So the orphans staged classic plays, performing in full costume.19 One night each week was set aside for classical music, while the tutors read to the younger children in their beds until lights out.20 Visiting teachers gave piano lessons or taught woodwork or bookbinding.


Auerbach’s founder had emphasised the importance of caring for a child’s mental well-being as much as their physical needs. ‘To fulfil its true purpose’, Auerbach once wrote, an orphanage ‘must become a family home’.21 There was discipline, but children were never beaten.22 Non-violence was encouraged in implicit ways too. The students used gun stocks left over from the Great War for hockey sticks, while a statue of Friedrich III, Germany’s distinctively pacifist emperor, surveyed the courtyard in the centre of the campus. Auerbach was a haven of sanctuary, if not – with sixteen children to each dormitory – much privacy.23


Outside the building’s sturdy gates, which had stood at 162 Schönhauser Allee since the turn of the century,24 a depression-gripped Berlin swilled with homelessness and hunger, strikes and street fights.25 The British novelist Christopher Isherwood, a resident in Berlin, described young men waking up to ‘another workless, empty day’ in a dreary city, to spend their hours, variously, ‘selling boot-laces’, ‘hanging about urinals’, and sharing stumps of cigarette ends stolen from the gutter.26 As the grip of Nazi oppression tightened, the orphanage, home to a small, liberal synagogue, gained a whispered reputation for being one of the most secure places for young Jewish children.27 Here was an oasis of refuge, in a rising tide of muck. Like many sanctuaries situated in a place of great need, the Auerbach orphanage was destined to become contested ground.


At eleven o’clock that evening of 9 November, a few hours after the doctors declared Rath dead in Paris, Hugo Moses, a forty-four-year-old employee of the Oppenheimer bank, stepped out of a meeting in the centre of the small German town where he and his family lived, into an empty street. The local bars still rumbled with Nazi revellers, but Hugo’s walk home to his apartment, where his wife and children were already in bed, was tranquil. Soon he, too, was asleep, until the insistent ringing of the doorbell jerked him awake.


Moses walked to the window, pulled back the curtain to see that the streetlights had been extinguished. Against the near-black of the sky, he made out the menacing silhouette of a transport vehicle, and the shapes of men, either disembarking, or already huddled at his front door.


‘Don’t be afraid,’ he called to his wife in the bedroom. ‘They are party men; stay calm.’28


Still in his pyjamas, Moses opened the front door. He smelled his attackers before he saw them: a wave of alcohol, followed by a firm shove to the chest as the first of the men, emboldened by drink and the electric promise of violence, pushed past and yanked the telephone from the wall. The leader, an SS man, stood in front of Hugo, his face tinged green and ominous in the darkness. He made a showy display of cocking his revolver.


‘Do you know why we’ve come here?’ he asked, raising the weapon to press the tip of the cold barrel against Moses’ forehead.29


‘No,’ Moses replied.


‘Because of the outrageous act committed in Paris, for which you are also to blame. If you even try to move, I’ll shoot you like a pig.’


Moses did not reply, but stood with his hands behind his back, pressed against the wall. November air blustered through the open door and into the hallway, blowing the cold present into the past, the unthinkable into reality. Moses listened while the men clattered through the apartment in heavy boots. He heard the whip and rustle of his desk being emptied, the tiny smash of glass of framed photographs knocked to the floor, the domestic manifestation of an assault on identity.


‘What do you want with my children?’ he heard his wife scream from the next room. ‘You’ll touch my children over my dead body.’


Then suddenly, the man pressing the revolver to Hugo’s head blew sharply on a whistle. The ransackers trampled through the corridor and filed out into the street. When the last of the men passed, their leader took the muzzle from Hugo’s forehead, pointed the gun at the ceiling, and fired two shots. Believing his eardrums to have burst, Moses stood motionless. Then the man struck Moses on the side of his head with the stick he had used to smash pictures.


‘There you are, you Jewish pig,’ he shouted as the parked van outside spluttered awake. ‘Have fun.’


Similar scenes of ritualistic intimidation, degradation, humiliation and assault were, at that moment, occurring across many of Germany’s towns and cities. A few hours after Goebbels made his speech calling for violent remonstrations against Jews, Reinhard Heydrich, director of the Gestapo, composed a telegram to every police station and intelligence office in the country.


‘Following the attempt on the life of Secretary of the Legation vom Rath in Paris, demonstrations against the Jews are to be expected in all parts of the Reich in the course of the coming night,’ Heydrich wrote.30 He outlined a series of bullet-point instructions for precisely how the State Police were to moderate the incoming surge of violence, a set of restraints intended to minimise collateral damage and ensure the violence was precise, discriminate.


Any synagogue could be torched, Heydrich instructed, ‘only where there is no danger of fire in neighbouring buildings’. Jewish shops and homes ‘may be destroyed’ but ‘not looted’. Even if they are Jewish, foreign citizens are ‘not to be molested’ – an instruction that implied what should be done to German Jews. Heydrich’s telegram closely mirrored instructions telephoned by the Stormtrooper chiefs gathered in Munich to their various regional sections a few hours earlier. A prearranged plan, it seemed, had been prepared in anticipation of Rath’s death.


In Wittlich, a small town in the western part of Germany, Nazi supporters threw furniture through the intricate lead-crystal window above the main door to the synagogue, showering the pavement with shards of bright-coloured glass. One man climbed onto the roof.


‘Wipe your asses with it, Jews,’ he screamed, as he threw scrolls of the Torah into the air, so that they unravelled like ribbons of confetti.31


In Germany’s capital city the violence was deferred until two o’clock in the morning, as specially trained squads cut telephone lines to Jewish buildings and switched off electricity and heating.32 The police diverted traffic from the areas of Berlin that would be most affected, a degree of calculation that resisted any claims that the night’s attacks were the result of spontaneous civilian outbursts.


The major synagogues were the first targets of the razzia. Goebbels specifically ordered the largest of these, the Fasanenstrasse, to be destroyed.33 Situated close to the Berlin Zoo, Kaiser Wilhelm II had attended the synagogue’s opening on 26 August 1912. Twenty-four years later, in 1936, the Nazis forced its closure. The building was still maintained, however, by Magnus Davidsohn, its cantor. Davidsohn was a neighbour of the assassinated Rath’s patents. Before the diplomat died in Paris from his wounds, Davidsohn had visited the couple to express the sympathy of the Jewish community.


‘My dear Reverend,’ Rath’s father had told Davidsohn. ‘Neither you nor any other Jew is responsible for this.’34


Now, as the flames rose retributively inside the synagogue, Davidsohn implored the fire chief to extinguish the fire.


‘I can’t help,’ said the captain. ‘We’ve come to protect the neighbouring buildings.’


The synagogue’s porter emerged into the courtyard, his nightclothes stained with blood. When he had refused to surrender the keys to the sanctuary, Stormtroopers had forced open the doors, heaved the seventy-eight-stop organ over the balcony, then ripped up and thrown holy texts, garments and prayer books into the Wittenbergplatz square outside. The men then drenched the wooden benches in petrol, accelerating the speed and intensity of the blaze.


Davidsohn and the porter watched as the group piled the synagogue’s artefacts and documents into a pyre, set it alight, then danced around the flames. At the Auerbach orphanage some of the older boys climbed onto the building’s roof and, from their vantage, saw the glow of the distant fire colour the sky.35 Meanwhile, the attackers climbed into one of the thirty taxis hired to carry them to the city’s Jewish hospitals, to its old people’s homes, to its orphanages.


Following the Nazi Party’s rise to power in 1933, it did not take long for the Auerbach children to begin to notice the world shift. Less than eight weeks after the Nazis came to power, German state schools were ordered to limit the number of Jewish pupils to less than 5 per cent of their total intake. Teachers began to seat non-Aryan pupils separately from their fellow students and refer to them by racial epithets such as ‘Jew-boy’.36 Some schoolteachers would lift the shorts of Jewish students who talked during class or offered an incorrect answer when called upon and beat them on the thighs with a stick, a punishment never aimed at their classmates.


At the age of ten, each child at the orphanage enrolled in one of a number of secondary schools, according to their individual talents and predilections. Children who excelled in languages, mathematics or science attended the Königstädtische Oberrealschule,37 a college famed for the tall tower that stood within its grounds, topped with a powerful telescope. Those who showed an aptitude for humanities-based subjects were sent to the Heinrich-Schliemann-Gymnasium.


Peter was an average student. He found it difficult to spell and struggled with languages. He ping-ponged between classes as his teachers tried to find a subject in which he might, if not excel, then flourish. Art was Peter’s salvation. He was a natural draughtsman, who spent lessons endlessly sketching and doodling, playing with shape, colour and typography. Rather than direct Peter towards core subjects, the teachers at the Auerbach encouraged their student’s passion and secured him a place at the Königliche Kunstschule zu Berlin – The Royal School of Art in Berlin.38 Having found his place, Peter excelled, learning to paint, etch and engrave, and showing sufficient talent to secure freelance contracts to design travel and film posters.39 The teachers’ encouragement had a profound effect.


‘There and then I decided I would become an artist,’ he said.40


While the Auerbach staff attentively guided their charges in directions that supported their students’ talents and interests, they were unable to protect them from the escalating cruelties of the outside world. Older children like Peter left the orphanage together around seven thirty in the morning,41 before breaking off into smaller groups according to their final destination. For most, school was at least a forty-minute walk, a journey on which, as the months passed, the children were increasingly the targets of harassment.


One day a group of Auerbach students spied a gang of Hitler Youths who appeared to be lying in wait for them along the route.


‘Stay together,’ said one, as the group approached the uniformed boys. ‘Don’t do anything to irritate them.’42


The ploy was unsuccessful. The older boys began to hurl stones at the children. One missile struck an Auerbach student in the head, opening a gushing wound.


‘Look at the Jewish blood!’ exclaimed a member of the gang.


Soon, harassment became a daily part of schooling.43 Even after Jewish children were finally expelled from state schools, and the Auerbach staff began teaching classes on the Rosenstrasse, a thirty-minute walk from the orphanage, the orphans were routinely attacked with belts and buckles by members of Hitler Youth.44


The attacks were orchestrated by older party members as a way to desensitise young Hitler supporters to committing acts of violence on Jews. And it was these young supporters who, in the early hours of 10 November 1938, arrived at the Auerbach orphanage midway through their lusty tour of destruction, rapped on the front gate, and demanded to be allowed in.


The signs that fate was, once again, coming for Peter had become clear in the months leading up to the assassination of the German diplomat Rath in Paris. On 27 July, a number of Berlin streets bearing the names of Jews were renamed. On 27 September, Jewish lawyers were banned from practising. On 5 October, the passports of all Jews were withdrawn and reissued with a red-stamped ‘J’. Then, shortly before the mob arrived at the Auerbach, a plain-clothes police officer knocked on the front gate.


‘The Gestapo are on the way,’ he said. ‘They are coming for Peter Fleischmann.’45


The secret police, it seemed, had finally tracked down the ‘leftovers’ of the Fleischmann clan, which had been otherwise wiped out.46


‘Have you somewhere to go?’ Jonas Plaut asked Peter.


Six weeks shy of his seventeenth birthday – the time at which he would have to bid goodbye to Auerbach, the institution that had provided stability in the tumult of his young life – Peter Fleischmann knew how to survive: inconspicuously. There were two people towards whom Peter thought to flee: his ‘aunt’, Echen Kohsen, heiress to the Kempinski fortune, and his grandfather’s housekeeper, Elizabeth Altenhain. While neither woman was relative, he had a close bond with both. Peter settled on the housekeeper, whose modest farmhouse was situated in the suburb of Dahlewitz, away from the city.


Peter packed up his belongings – a few clothes, a violin and an art folder filled with his drawings – and said his goodbyes. So it was that, on the night the German diplomat Rath died, when the mob of Nazi supporters arrived at the gates of the Auerbach orphanage, Peter Fleischmann was hiding in the cellar of the farmhouse that belonged to his late grandfather’s housekeeper, sixteen miles south of his empty orphanage bed.


Auerbach’s director Jonas Plaut creaked open the gate to a crowd of young men, some in uniform, others wearing plain clothes.47 He had known the mob was on its way; the plain-clothes policeman had warned him, earlier that night, to take the children somewhere else.48 But where to hide eighty young people without notice?49 It seemed safer to stay put and pray the looters would pass them by – an understandable miscalculation.


Jonas Plaut feared that the young men had come for the children. In fact, they had come for the building. In 1923, a local seminary teacher, Hermann Falkenberg, had built a liberal synagogue in the orphanage grounds. This place of worship, known as the North Synagogue, was where the children would celebrate Jewish holidays, led by the resident cantor, Kurt Jakubowski, who would also train the boys in preparation for their bar mitzvah ceremonies. The Auerbach synagogue was well known to the secret police, whose members would sometimes attend ceremonies on the premises.50 Auerbach’s synagogue was, it seemed, on the list of the night’s targets.51


‘You need to leave now,’ said one of the attackers. ‘We want to set fire to the building.’52


Walter Frankenstein, a quick-thinking fourteen-year-old orphan and apprentice bricklayer, pointed out that any fire would likely spread to other buildings on the street.


Perhaps recalling Heydrich’s warning to burn only those synagogues where there was no danger that the fire could spread to neighbouring buildings, the Stormtroopers heeded the boy’s warning and changed their plans.


‘Beeilt euch,’ said one of the men, who seemed barely older than some of the children.53 ‘Hurry up … Everyone into the synagogue.’54


The Stormtroopers shepherded Auerbach’s residents into the hall, where they squeezed among the pews, in front of the curtained altar. The children heard the sound of the door being locked from the outside, then one of the orphans began to cough.


Natural gas had been odorised in Germany since the 1880s, a mercaptan liquid added to ensure that leaks could be detected by smell. As Walter noticed the deepening odour in the room, he realised one of the attackers had, on his way out, blown out the eternal flame and opened the gas tap in front of the Aron Kodesh, the ornamental closet in the synagogue where the Torah scrolls were kept. The room was filling with fumes.


Frankenstein scrabbled to locate the tap and closed off the valve. The scent of gas hung heavy in the room. While some of the younger children wept, others made suggestions for how they might force their way out. An older boy reasoned that the attackers might be waiting outside the door, ready to shoot anyone who escaped.


The children heard the rumble of a truck’s engine, its pitch rise and volume fall as the vehicle pulled away. There was an abrupt crash, as an older boy hurled a chair through one of the synagogue’s stained-glass windows, to allow a life-saving transfer of air.55


While Peter and the other orphans had, in their respective ways, survived the night, the sun rose on a changed city. Wreckage both material and emblematic littered Berlin’s shattered streets. Glass made the pavements crunch underfoot, the debris from which the atrocity subsequently took its name: Kristallnacht – night of broken glass.


Any residual hope that the Nazi regime’s escalating persecution of German Jews might still be reversed had evaporated with the rising of the sun. While Peter Fleischmann had evaded disaster, a threshold had been passed. None of the orphans knew it yet, but their survival was now dependent on their escape.










IV


The Rescuers


As the grey dawn rose on a changed and smouldering Berlin and the first reports of the night’s violence began to wend their way to Britain, Bertha Bracey was in her London office picking at a pile of paperwork. Positioned opposite Euston station, on one of London’s busiest roads, Drayton House had become as hectic as the railway terminal it faced, the nerve centre of a chaotic but diligent operation dedicated to bringing individuals and families – mostly lapsed Jews1 – from Nazi Germany to Britain.2 In 1933, the operation’s first year, Bertha and her part-time assistant dealt with just eighteen cases. Now, five years later, the Germany Emergency Committee3 employed a staff of fifty-nine – mostly women, mostly Quakers – and the caseload numbered more than fourteen thousand.


Short, prim and plain-looking, Bertha’s diminutive stature belied her inexhaustible energies. In order to help with her petitions, she had begun a number of correspondences with the offices of various high-ranking Nazi officials, including Reinhard Heydrich, architect of the previous night’s violence, the officer whom Hitler famously referred to as ‘the man with the iron heart’.4 She had written letters to Hermann Göring, Joachim von Ribbentrop5 – the wine-seller with whom Peter Fleischmann once played in the Kempinski cellars, now the Nazi foreign minister – and even Hitler himself in order to request the release of a German social worker imprisoned by the Nazis.6 


The work was rewarding, but overwhelming. Documentation spilled from her office into the building’s cramped corridors where scores of penniless and terrified men, women and children now sat and patiently awaited meetings.7 There was need everywhere: for emigration papers, for lodging, for language training, for employment.8 Together with Otto Schiff, her counterpart at the Jewish Refugees Committee, Bertha had become a central figure in a network working to forestall complications in refugee applications and avoid delays that, considering the previous night’s events, could prove fatal.


It wasn’t easy to rescue a person from Germany. Writing in the New Statesman, Bertha’s friend and collaborator, the politician Eleanor Rathbone, likened the work to scraping away at prison bars with tiny files before finally dragging tortured men, women and children through the gaps, one by one.9 An escapee faced a series of monumental barriers: the Nazis’ desire to steal their money before they left; the difficulty of finding a country willing to take a person unable to contribute to the cost of resettlement;10 the obstinacy of a British government concerned that, by welcoming refugees, it might inflame anti-Semitism and the jealousy of the unemployed, or, as Rathbone tersely put it, ‘encourage other nations to unload their Jews on us’.11


Trade union opposition to immigration had allowed the government to adopt a more restrictive policy, as had the countrywide fear that an influx of refugees could threaten both national stability and identity. Most problematically, for Jews attempting to flee Germany, the British government viewed the ‘Jewish problem’ as a side issue within Nazi policy. British officials simply did not believe that Hitler would or could devote so much effort and expense to the extermination of the Jewish race across Europe. Accordingly, the scale of response did not match the scale of threat; even the best-connected individual needed help to plan and execute their life-changing journey. 


For many, Drayton House and, when the operation outgrew the premises, its successor Bloomsbury House, represented a person’s best hope of securing emigration papers for their loved ones in Germany.12 Bertha knew that she was often a person’s only hope – the benevolent, unseen force, for which all humans long in moments of profound crisis – especially for someone in Peter Fleischmann’s position, hiding from the Gestapo in a cellar, with few connections and no family to petition on his behalf.


Few were better equipped for this difficult work. Bertha spent much of her twenties living in Austria and Germany, and spoke fluent German. She had worked on providing aid to families impoverished by the First World War, and witnessed first-hand the rise of Fascism. Her mission was driven by her Quaker faith, a small but welcoming Christian denomination more committed to social justice than dogma, which Bertha adopted when she was a teenager living next to the cocoa-chuffing chimneys of the Cadbury chocolate factory where her father worked as a carpenter.13


After graduating from Birmingham University, Bertha had accepted a post as a teacher at Luton High School for Girls. She spent her first summer holiday volunteering in Austria in 1922,14 collecting and distributing aid to families in need, and promptly resigned from teaching to continue her work. She soon came to understand the impact that she could have on people’s lives if she summoned the courage to knock on the right doors. Through the work she systematically built a formidable network of friends and colleagues across Austria and Germany, all equally committed to welfare and, as time went on, rescue.


From her vantage point among the suffering proletariat, Bertha witnessed attitudes change and tensions rise in Germany. During a two-year stay living in Nuremberg in the mid-twenties, she watched in disbelief as men previously seen as extremist cranks rose to positions of power. Julius Streicher, the ferocious racist who founded Der Stürmer, the weekly tabloid newspaper that printed what she called ‘appalling anti-Semitic statements and horrifying Jewish caricatures’, served on the city council. Bertha watched as others looked away, hoping these objectionable figures would, after a spell of responsibility, retreat. ‘The poison, however, was spreading.’15


After she had returned to England in April 1934, Bertha addressed the Religious Society of Friends at Swathmoor Hall, where she warned her audience of how post-war bitterness and resentment in Germany were curdling into poisonous ideology.


‘What we see now,’ she told the assembled crowd, ‘is an overgrown, hot-headed, big-headed form of Nationalism which is afraid of internationalism.’ It is the duty of English people, she said, ‘to resist the oncoming tide of Fascism and dictatorship and all its forms’, before pointing out to any audience members who might be feeling an air of moral superiority that these tyrannies were also ‘certainly growing here in our land’.16


In truth, attitudes in Britain towards Jews were dispiritingly close to those in Germany. Home Intelligence, a department of the government’s Ministry of Information, gathered statements made by members of the public regarding Jewish people. Their comments made for grim reading. Jews, one stated, ‘seem to have all the money nowadays’. Another claimed Jews ‘can always get out of anything’, while one interviewee pointed at ‘low business morals’. One of the Home Intelligence officers concluded: ‘Many have the sneaking feeling that Hitler, and those of like thought throughout the ages, were right’.19


Anti-Semitism, in all its various and complex forms, did not arrive in Britain with the influx of Jewish exiles from Nazi oppression. As in Europe, there was a centuries-old belief that Jews, as a people group, had opposed Christ – overlooking the muddling factor that Jesus was a Jew who practised in the rabbinical tradition. While in Britain Jewish people were not forced to live in ghettos or wear marks of racial identification on their clothing, Jews were the subject of a diverse range of prejudices, from working-class xenophobia and concern about unemployment, to fears of cultural contamination from within the intelligentsia.


In Britain, anti-Semitism did not find its primary expression in physical violence, but in reflexive attitudes and jokes. The diplomat, Sir Harold Nicolson, articulated a widespread attitude among the British literary class when he said: ‘Although I loathe anti-Semitism, I do dislike Jews.’20


On the morning of Thursday 10 November 1938, as the first reports of the events of Kristallnacht arrived in Britain, Bertha’s prescience was vindicated, and Britain’s old and enduring islander mentality – that the country does not have the capacity to absorb foreigners, whatever their need – sharply challenged. Here was the undeniable proof that anti-Semitic violence had always been foundational to the Nazi regime’s aims. It was not in Bertha’s character to gloat. Nor was there time. A quickening crescendo of events would demand from Bertha, her team, and the Jewish aid organisations with whom they collaborated, an entirely new category of ambition.


The dawn light had not cooled the night’s violence. The British government’s man-in-Berlin, George Ogilvie-Forbes, left home early and stepped into the debris-strewn morning. He began with a tour of Friedrichstrasse, the city’s major shopping district. Around him, the looting and destruction continued. Grinning crowds tailed looters, gawping and sometimes surreptitiously pocketing valuables that spilled onto the pavement. Police officers, Ogilvie-Forbes wrote in a telegram sent to his superiors in Whitehall later that day, took no notice.21


Foreign journalists based in Berlin corroborated the account. A reporter from the News Chronicle saw Jews ‘chased through the streets by young Nazis, pummelled and knocked down’.22 Another foreign reporter noted that ‘the average German looked on either apathetic or astonished’. While many were appalled by the events of the night, others eagerly joined in with, if not the violence, then the theft; one Berlin jewellery store, Margraf, reported losses of 1.7 million marks.23


At five o’clock in the afternoon, Joseph Goebbels, initiator of the pogrom, issued the order to end the violence: ‘The natural and fully justified outrage felt by the German people at the brutal assassination in Paris has been expressed this evening in reprisals against Jewish shops and businesses,’ he stated in his message, relayed via radio stations across the country.24 ‘I now appeal to the entire population to desist at once from any further demonstrations or action against the Jews. The last word on the Paris assassination will be spoken in legislation.’


By November 1938, German Jews had been banned from using radio sets; Goebbels’ message would have gone unheard by the community it was, ostensibly, supposed to protect. Even among the attackers, the order did not have an immediate effect. ‘Not even the proclamation of Dr Goebbels, the propaganda minister – broadcast this afternoon and again tonight – ordering the stoppage of pogroms could curb the madness of the mobs,’ wrote one journalist. ‘The only thing that could finally slow then stop the violence,’ the reporter observed, was a ‘lack of further damage to be done’.25


In the final tally, 7,500 Jewish homes and businesses had been looted, 267 synagogues and congregational buildings razed, including 30 in the city of Berlin and at least 91 Jews murdered across the country. In the coming days, forty thousand Jews would be taken to the prison camps, Dachau, Buchenwald or Sachsenhausen, where men were forced to stand for hours at a stretch, or to perform exercises while repeating the words, painted on a board: ‘We killed Secretary vom Rath.’26


The news of wanton destruction was not unexpected in Whitehall. In the hours between Rath’s shooting and his death, Germany’s Jewish leaders had sent a desperate plea asking the British government to select ‘some prominent non-Jewish Englishman to go to Berlin immediately’ to dispel the looming threat of violence.27 Officials had decided, however, that to intervene at this point would be to meddle in ‘a wasp’s nest’.28 There was no intercession.


News of the murders, lootings and arrests was met with condemnation from all sections of the British government, public and press. Reports of what had happened across Germany ‘went through Britain like a sort of electric current’, recalled one observer. ‘Every little town, every village in England said, “We must save the children.”’29


In a letter to the London Times published on 12 November, the Archbishop of Canterbury, Cosmo Gordon Lang, who had long advocated friendship between Britain and Hitler’s Germany, wrote: ‘Whatever provocation may have been given by the deplorable act of a single Jewish youth, reprisals on such a scale, so fierce, cruel and vindictive, cannot possibly be justified.’ These ‘excesses of hatred and malice’, Lang wrote, ‘put upon the friendship we are ready to offer an almost intolerable strain’.


The focus of Lang’s letter on Kristallnacht’s deleterious effects on international relations, rather than on the victims, was telling. The archbishop did, however, conclude with a request that congregations pray for the victims of persecution ‘whose future seems to be so dark and hopeless’.


It fell, then, to others to take a more pragmatic approach. Shortly after Kristallnacht, Wilfrid Israel, a Jewish businessman and owner of Israel’s Department Store, one of the largest in Berlin, wrote to Bertha Bracey. Israel, descendant of the first Chief Rabbi of Britain, Hermann Adler, was well connected – his friend, Albert Einstein, later said of Israel: ‘Never in my life have I come in contact with a being so noble, so strong and as selfless … a living work of art.’30


Israel had already begun work to secure the release of Jews who had been arrested during the pogrom. He sent money to the commandant of Sachsenhausen, the concentration camp where Jewish men were being forced to accept the blame for Rath’s murder, in exchange for their release.31


Now Israel wanted to organise the rescue of Jewish children up to the age of seventeen and find a way to send them to Britain. Israel knew that he needed assistance to quickly establish the machinery to realise such a plan, but British Jews were forbidden to visit Berlin. He had remained in contact with Bertha ever since they met in Nuremberg. Bertha was at her Euston office when she received the invitation from her old friend to visit him in Berlin.


The Quakers, a group that numbered just 23,000 in Britain at the time, were permitted to travel freely to and from Nazi Germany. This generous attitude was the result of the group’s humanitarian work after the First World War, the so-called Quakerspeisung – ‘Quaker-feeding’ – a programme that provided five million German children with food in the aftermath of war and recession.


Many children who benefitted from this philanthropic work grew up to become senior Nazi officers; the memory of the group’s benevolence remained clear across the nation and political divides. In 1936 a Nazi dictionary for children provided just three entries for church denominations: Protestanten, Katholische and Quäker. The definition for Quäker identified the group as having ‘sacrificially cared for destitute children in Germany after the Great War’.32 As a result, the Nazi regime allowed the Quakers to continue their philanthropic work relatively unimpeded.


In the days after Kristallnacht, Bertha travelled to Berlin with a delegation of five colleagues to confer with Wilfrid Israel as to how they might, with the utmost urgency, evacuate children to Britain.33 When she arrived, Bertha attempted to keep her presence in the city secret, fearing that German Quakers living in the city might experience reprisals were the group’s plans exposed.34 These plans, first suggested by the German Jewish social worker and refugee activist Solomon Adler-Rudel and devised in collaboration with the Jewish Refugees Committee, were a masterpiece of collaboration and international organisation.35


Vulnerable German children up to the age of seventeen would take a train from Germany to the Netherlands, which, the day after Kristallnacht, had agreed to allow temporary residence to an unlimited number of German and Austrian children. From Holland, they would take the ferry to Britain, to be accepted into the home of a willing family. There would be unimaginable pain as children were parted from their parents, not knowing when or if they would again meet, but the plan seemed preferable to any alternative. As she returned to Britain, Bertha knew that without the backing of the British government – which would need to issue the immigration permits – it would come to naught.


Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain was torn on how his government should respond to current events. As news from Germany spread, the prevailing tide of public opinion had shifted; national anxieties about asylum seekers were, it seemed, matched and even surpassed by the urge to demonstrate compassion on the international stage. Outrage had finally grown to the monstrous proportions necessary for action.


Chamberlain told the House of Commons that his government would consider ‘any possible way by which we can help these people’.36 An ‘open doors’ policy was out of the question, however, not least because of fears that refugees might compete for jobs at a time of high unemployment. Even prominent Jewish representatives appeared to oppose the large-scale admission of Jews, seemingly afraid of agitating anti-Semitism in Britain.37


Four days after the attacks, a meeting of the Cabinet Committee on Foreign Policy discussed possible responses. The Home Secretary, Sir Samuel Hoare, who was from a Quaker family, suggested that part of the British annual quota of 60,000 immigrants – of which only about a quarter had currently been used – might be earmarked for German Jews suffering from Nazi oppression.38 The previous September, Winston Churchill had written an open letter in the Evening Standard imploring Hitler to cease his persecution of Jews; now he suggested settling refugees in a colony such as British Guiana.39 The discussion ended without resolution.


On the morning of 21 November, eleven days after the violence of Kristallnacht, Bertha Bracey met the Home Secretary, accompanied by five other humanitarian representatives. Among them was Ben Greene, who had returned from a trip to Germany only that morning. The members of this interfaith group, called the ‘Movement for the Care of Children from Germany’,40 outlined a plan that, Hoare soon realised, might represent precisely the kind of grand gesture that the British public required.


At first, Hoare expressed some doubt that any parents would willingly send their child alone to a foreign country, to live with strangers. Greene explained that, while he was in Berlin, he had put the same question to Jewish families in person.


‘They were,’ Greene told the politician, ‘almost unanimously in favour of parting with their children.’ Better to assume the risks of their children going to a foreign country, most parents had told him, than keep them to face the capricious dangers at home.41


Moved by Bertha’s tragic descriptions of Berlin, challenged by her display of Quaker faith in action, and no doubt inspired by what seemed like a public relations coup, Hoare at last committed to a course of action. Provided they had a guarantor to offer food, shelter and the cost of a ticket home, ‘transmigrant’ children, as they were to be known, would be welcome in Britain. Visas and alien cards would be waived in place of a new permit bearing the child’s name and those of his or her parents.42


That evening Hoare made good on his promise. In a debate in the House of Commons he pledged that, while the refugee issue was ‘an international problem’ that ‘no single country can hope to solve’, Britain was ‘prepared to play [its] full part’.


‘I believe that we could find homes in this country for a very large number [of children] without any harm to our own population,’ he continued. We shall, Hoare promised, ‘put no obstacle in the way of children coming here’.43


There was much to be done. In addition to the logistical challenges involved in bringing unaccompanied minors across Europe, there was the issue of locating and vetting British families who could provide safe lodging. Ideally these individuals would be equipped to ease the children’s psychological turmoil at having been separated from their parents. Regional committees needed to be set up to enlist foster parents and organise accommodation.44


Then there was the question of how – considering that the need vastly outstripped the provision – places would be allocated. Priority would be given to middle-class candidates, perceived to be likely to adapt most quickly to a new country, and – in a grim paralleling of the Nazi preference for Aryan-looking children – blonde girls were favoured as potential British foster parents and guarantors were more inclined to choose them from photographs.45


Dennis Cohen, chair of the Jewish Refugees Committee’s Emigration department, and his wife left for Berlin on 28 November 1938 to finalise arrangements with the German government and consult with the welfare organisations responsible for making selections – the Reichsvertretung in Germany, and the Kultusgemeinde in Austria – from more than six hundred applications that had already arrived.46


The children were to be brought out of Germany by various means, mainly train but also by plane in some cases. The proposal was dubbed by the German Rail Authorities simply Kindertransport – the Children’s Transport.47


The Nazis cooperated with the plan: so long as no money or valuables were removed from Germany, and the emigration was handled discreetly and with no cost to the state, the party voiced no objection to sending Jewish children to Britain. The SS organised extra carriages for the refugees to be attached to regular trains. The refugees would be accompanied by a minimum number of adult supervisors, around one adult per twenty-five children in the first instance. The British act of benevolence was also conditional: all young people accepted into the country were expected to have left Britain for a new country of asylum within two years, preferably one.48


Spaces for the first delegation of children to England were reserved for the most vulnerable: those without families and, therefore, the most obvious candidates for fostering. The orphans of Auerbach fitted the profile. They would be joined by evacuees from three other Berlin institutions: the Fehrbellinerstrasse children’s home, the Reichenheim orphanage, and the Ahawah orphanage, which would later become the building where the Gestapo administered the sending of Jews to death camps.49 The first Kindertransport would depart Berlin on 30 November 1938, carrying children from other German cities, including Hanover and Leipzig. The Berlin children were allocated the second train, which would depart from the city the following day, 1 December.


Three weeks shy of his seventeenth birthday, Peter Fleischmann received word that, despite being close to the upper age limit for rescue, his name was on the list. Peter would need a passport photograph and a medical certificate to show, among other things, that he was ‘free of vermin’.50 Otherwise, all that remained to do was to pack a single suitcase, the allowance for each child leaving Berlin, then return to the orphanage on Wednesday 30 November, the night before the planned trip.51


When the morning came, Peter stood in the orphanage courtyard, with its wintery trees and forsaken sand pit. In one hand he held a bag in which he had hidden what few family treasures remained in his possession – some silver knives and forks, a dragonfly brooch with tiny diamonds on the wings once owned by his mother, and his treasured stamp collection – and, under the other arm, an unwieldy art folder filled with his posters and paintings.


Accompanied by Rafael and Max Plaut,52 brother and nephew of Auerbach’s director, Jonas Plaut, Peter and the other children boarded a bus outside the orphanage that had been a place of refuge and stability in his turbulent life since the age of five.53 It was a twenty-minute drive to the Anhalter Bahnhof,54 one of Berlin’s busiest railway terminals. There the Auerbach children joined the other Berliners with whom they would make their train journey to the German border and into Holland, where the boat that would take them to Britain awaited. For Peter, opportunity had, at least for now, followed disaster.
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